
Finance, Administration, and Economic Development 
Committee

Beaufort County, SC 
Executive Conference Room, Administration Building, Beaufort County Government, Robert 

Smalls Complex, 100 Ribaut Road, Beaufort 

Tuesday, February 18, 2025 
2:00 PM 

AGENDA 

COMMITTEE MEMBERS: 
MARK LAWSON, CHAIRMAN LOGAN CUNNINGHAM, VICE-CHAIR 
PAULA BROWN  GERALD DAWSON 
ANNA MARIA TABERNIK ALICE HOWARD, EX-OFFICIO 

1. CALL TO ORDER: Mark Lawson, Committee Chair 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: Mark Lawson, Committee Chair 

3. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH FOIA: Mark Lawson, Committee Chair 

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES - January 27, 2025

6. PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD- 15 MINUTES

7. FY2024 ANNUAL COMPREHENSIVE FINANCE REPORT (ACFR) – Pinky Harriott, CFO

8. CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER REPORT - Pinky Harriott, CFO

9. A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE AN AMENDMENT TO AN
INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT REGARDING AFFORDABLE HOUSING. Dylan Kidd, Deputy County
Attorney

10. DISCUSSION OF STATE A-TAX REVIEW - Vice-Chair Tabernik

11. THE REAPPOINTMENTS OF THOMAS SHEAHAN, NICHOLAS MESENBURG, LESLIE FLORY, ANNE ESPOSITO,
HOWARD ACKERMAN & CHRISTOPHER BUTLER TO THE AIRPORTS BOARD FOR A TWO-YEAR TERM WITH
AN EXPIRATION DATE OF FEBRUARY 2027

12. RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF THE REAPPOINTMENT OF PAUL JERNIGAN TO THE BOARD OF ASSESSMENT
APPEALS FOR A FOUR-YEAR TERM WITH THE EXPIRATION DATE OF FEBRUARY 2029.

13. ADJOURNMENT

1



County Council Agenda – Beaufort County, SC 

TO WATCH COMMITTEE OR COUNTY COUNCIL MEETINGS OR FOR A COMPLETE LIST OF AGENDAS AND 
BACKUP PACKAGES, PLEASE VISIT: 

https://beaufortcountysc.gov/council/council-committee-meetings/index.html 

2

https://beaufortcountysc.gov/council/council-committee-meetings/index.html


 

 

 

Finance, Administration, and Economic Development 
Committee 

Beaufort County, SC 
This meeting will be held both in person at the Hilton Head Library, 11 Beach City Road, 

Hilton Head, and virtually through Zoom. 

Monday, January 27, 2025 
3:00 PM 

MINUTES 

COMMITTEE MEMBERS: 
MARK LAWSON, CHAIRMAN    LOGAN CUNNINGHAM, VICE-CHAIR 
PAULA BROWN      GERALD DAWSON 
ANNA MARIA TABERNIK    ALICE HOWARD, EX-OFFICIO 

The video stream of this meeting is available on the County’s website: 
https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/326731?ts=28 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

Committee Chairman Lawson called the meeting to order at 3:06 pm.  
 
PRESENT 
Committee Chair Mark Lawson 
Chairman Joseph Passiment 
Council Member Paula Brown 
Council Member Alice Howard 
Council Member Anna Maria Tabernik 
Council Member Reitz 
 
ABSENT 
Council Member Gerald Dawson 
Council Member David Bartholomew 
Vice-Chair Logan Cunningham 
Council Member Lawrence McElynn 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 Committee Chairman Lawson led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

3. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH FOIA 

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

3

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/326731?ts=28


Finance, Administration, & Economic Development Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Brown, Seconded by Council Member Tabernik, to approve 
the agenda.  

The Vote: The motion was approved without objection. 

5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES - November 25, 2024 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Brown, Seconded by Council Member Tabernik, to approve 
the minutes from November 25, 2024. 

The Vote: The motion was approved without objection. 

6. CITIZEN COMMENT PERIOD – 15 MINUTES TOTAL 

No citizen comments. 

7. CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER REPORT - Pinky Harriott 
  

To view the full presentation and report: 
https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/326731?ts=138 

 

AGENDA ITEMS 
 

 

8. PROCUREMENT UPDATE- Dave Thomas 

To view the full update: https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/326731?ts=638 

9. VACANCIES AND ATTRITION RATE UPDATE - Katherine Mead, HR Director 

To view the full update: https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/326731 

10. APPROVAL OF HAWKERS AND PEDDLERS LICENSE FEES FOR 2025 - Chuck Atkinson, ACA 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Brown, Seconded by Council Member Howard, to approve 
the Hawkers and Peddlers License Fees for 2025.  

The Vote: The motion was approved without objection. 

11. ADJOURNMENT 

Adjournment: 3:42 pm 

 

Ratified:   

 

4

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/326731?ts=138
https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/326731?ts=638
https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/326731


BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

FY2024 Annual Comprehensive Finance Report (ACFR) 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Finance, Administration, & Economic Development Committee, February 18th, 2025 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

David Irwin, CPA, Mauldin & Jenkins 

25 minutes 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

Presentation of FY2024 Audit 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Beaufort County external auditors to present the FY2024 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report to 
Finance Committee. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

 NO FISCAL IMPACT 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

No recommendation 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve/deny to move to full Council for approval at the June 27th meeting. 

 

5

Item 7.



Beaufort County, South Carolina
Financial & Compliance Audit – June 30, 2024

Presented by:
                   

David Irwin, CPA
Partner 6

Item 7.



Financial & Compliance Audit
June 30, 2024

Purpose of Today’s Presentation
 Overview of:

• Independent Auditor’s Report

• Compliance Reports 

• Financial Statements

 Required Communications

 Answer Any Questions

7

Item 7.



Financial & Compliance Audit
June 30, 2024

Audit Opinion
 Beaufort County: responsible for financial statements.

 M&J: to express opinions.

 Auditing Standards = Generally Accepted Auditing 
Standards and Governmental Auditing Standards

 Financial Audit : Unmodified (Clean) Opinion 
• Highest level of Assurance
• Financial Statements are fairly presented in all 
   material respects, in accordance with GAAP  

8

Item 7.



Financial & Compliance Audit
June 30, 2024

Compliance Reports

Financial Report contains two (2) Compliance Reports:
 Single Audit Report 

• Compliance audit
• Required > $750k in federal expenditures
• Unmodified (Clean) Opinion

 Yellow Book Report
• Report on County’s Internal Controls and Compliance 
• Not Intended to Provide an Opinion
• No Material Weaknesses or Significant Deficiencies 

Noted During Our Audit
 

9

Item 7.



Financial & Compliance Audit
June 30, 2024

Overview of Financial Statements
• County prepares an Annual Comprehensive 

Financial Report (ACFR)

• ACFR goes above and beyond basic reporting 
requirements

• Submitted annually to Government Finance 
Officers Association (GFOA)

• County awarded ACFR Certificate for 15th year in a 
row.

 
10

Item 7.



Financial & Compliance Audit
June 30, 2024

Overview of Financial Statements
 Management’s Discussion & Analysis (MD&A)

• Written by Management
• Introduces and Summarizes Basic Financial Statements
• Comparative Information 

 County’s Financial Statements Include Three (3) 
    Components

• Government-Wide Financial Statements
• Funds Financial Statements
• Notes to the Financial Statements

11

Item 7.



Financial & Compliance Audit
June 30, 2024

Government-Wide Financial Statements
• $1.2 Billion = total assets and deferred outflows

• $647.3 Million = capital assets, net of A/D

• $363 Million = total liabilities and deferred inflows

• $832.5 Million = net position (or equity)

• $379.7 million = revenues ($296M in FY23)

• $249.7 million = expenses ($253.5M in FY23)

• Increase in Net Position of $130M vs $42.5M increase in PY

12

Item 7.



Financial & Compliance Audit
June 30, 2024

General Fund Revenues

128,983,790 

5,422,715 

11,277,009 15,514,789 

804,609 

5,417,552 

16,414,004 

  Property taxes

  Licenses and permits

  Intergovernmental

  Charges for services

  Fines and forfeitures

  Interest

  Miscellaneous

13

Item 7.



Financial & Compliance Audit
June 30, 2024

General Fund Expenditures 

68,500,838 

53,365,636 

11,131,427 

3,779,721 

679,585 

16,116,100 

1,633,877 
12,499,352 

General government

Public safety

Public works

Public health

Public welfare

Cultural and recreation

Debt service

Capital projects

14

Item 7.



Financial & Compliance Audit
June 30, 2024

General Fund – Fund Balance History 

 -

 20,000,000

 40,000,000

 60,000,000

 80,000,000

 100,000,000

 120,000,000

June 30, 2020 June 30, 2021 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2023 June 30, 2024

15

Item 7.



Financial & Compliance Audit
June 30, 2024

Enterprise Funds 
Operating Revenues vs. Operating Expenses

 -

 2,000,000

 4,000,000

 6,000,000

 8,000,000

 10,000,000

 12,000,000

Stormwater Utility Beaufort Exec. Airport Hilton Head Airport Solid Waste & Recycling
Revenues
Expenses

16

Item 7.



Financial & Compliance Audit
June 30, 2024

Required Communications
• Clean Opinion and No Audit Findings

• We Received Full Cooperation from Management and Staff

• No Disagreements with Management

• No Significant Issues Discussed with Management 

• No Uncorrected Misstatements

• We are Independent of the County as Required by 
Government Auditing Standards

17

Item 7.



Financial & Compliance Audit
June 30, 2024

Closing
We appreciate the opportunity to serve Beaufort County and look 
forward to serving the County in the future.

18

Item 7.



1

Finance Committee
FY2025 YTD Budget Report 19

Item 8.



General Fund- Revenues
2025 Revised Budget 2025 Actual 2025 Percent Rec/Used

GENERAL FUND 1000
REVENUES

41 Ad Valorem 115,574,500.00$         110,485,476.00$  96%
42 License & Permits 4,811,500.00$             1,898,637.00$      39%
43 Intergovernmental 11,802,756.00$           4,829,901.00$      41%
44 Charges for Services 15,946,647.00$           10,077,820.00$    63%
45 Fines & Forfeitures 759,500.00$                 501,673.00$          66%
46 Interest 2,150,000.00$             2,993,576.00$      139%
47 Misc 1,470,300.00$             1,143,317.00$      78%
48 Cont from PY Fund Balance 2,726,812.00$             -$                         0%
49 Transfers In 1,630,000.00$             1,075,558.00$      66%

TOTAL REVENUE 156,872,015.00$         133,005,958.00$  85%

20

Item 8.



General Fund- Expenditures

EXPENDITURES by DIVISION
10 General Government 70,586,349.00$           36,799,497.00$    52%
20 Public Safety 58,516,793.00$           34,981,027.00$    60%
30 Public Works 12,323,132.00$           6,893,765.00$      56%
40 Public Health 1,892,360.00$             965,245.00$          51%
50 Public Welfare 753,616.00$                 478,442.00$          63%
60 Cultural & Recreation 12,799,765.00$           7,102,427.00$      55%

TOTAL 156,872,015.00$         87,220,403.00$    56%

21

Item 8.



BUDGET TRANSFER RECAP 2/18/2025 FINANCE COMMITTEE MEETING

DATE DEPARTMENT FROM ACCOUNT
FROM ACCOUNT 

DESCRIPTION
TO ACCOUNT TO ACCOUNT DESCRIPTION AMOUNT JUSTIFICATION

REVISED 
BUDGET FROM

REVISED 
BUDGET TO

1/21/2025 Human Services 2503-50-0000-51320 Training and Conf 2503-50-0000-51150 Rentals $150.00

The department's county-owned printer 
unexpectedly malfunctioned, necessitating a 
transition to a printer owned and managed by 
ABR. This has an associated rental cost. This 
transfer covers the estimated rental costs, 
starting December 2024 through the end of the 
fiscal year. $449.00 -$35.00

2/11/2025 Passive Parks 1000-60-1610-52600 Non-Cap Equipment 1000-60-1610-51320 Training and Conf $639.00

An unanticipated mandatory training for the 
County Naturalist's Palmetto Environmental 
Education Certification required her attendance 
on January 17-19, 2025. The requested transfer 
amount is to cover the registration and hotel 
costs associated with this training that were paid 
on the County's purchasing card. $125.00 $0.00

2/3/2024 Parks & Rec 1000-60-1600-51360-SENIO Athletic Programs 1000-60-1600-51160 Professional Services $100,000.00

The PAR Professional Services account is used in 
part to cover umpire/referee costs for 
tournaments and leagues.  These costs have 
been higher than expected in FY25 due to higher 
than expected participation in both tournaments 
and leagues. $186,587.00 $176,098.00

1/31/2024 Veteran's Affairs 1000-50-1500-51010 Printing 1000-50-1500-51310 Dues and Subscriptions $150.00 SCACVAO Membership $1,750.00 $225.00

22

Item 8.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY 

ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE AN AMENDMENT TO AN INTERGOVERNMENTAL 

AGREEMENT REGARDING AFFORDABLE HOUSING 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Finance, Administration & Economic Development Committee; February 18, 2025. 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Hank Amundson, Special Assistant to the County Administrator 

5 Minutes  

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

September 26, 2022 County Council adopted Resolution 2022/51 authorizing the County Administrator 
to enter into an intergovernmental agreement with Jasper County, Town of Hilton Head Island, Town 
of Bluffton, Town of Port Royal, City of Beaufort, City of Hardeeville, and the Town of Yemassee.  

 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Due to developments since the creation of the RHTF and the execution of the intergovernmental 
agreement, the government entities desire to amend the original intergovernmental agreement to: (1) 
remove the reference to the “William C. Mescher Local Housing Trust Fund Enabling Act”; (2) include a 
definition of the “Beaufort Jasper Housing Trust, Inc.”; (3) further define the terms and responsibilities 
of the Oversight Board; (4) include additional conditions regarding the Term and Termination of the 
Agreement; and (5) amend terms regarding the Administration and Fiscal Agent related to the RHTF. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

No fiscal impact  

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Authorize the County Administrator to execute an amendment to an intergovernmental agreement 
regarding affordable housing.  

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to recommend approval of the Resolution and move forward to Council.  

Motion to recommend denial of the Resolution to Council. 

 

23

Item 9.



24

Item 9.



25

Item 9.



26

Item 9.



2 
 

Section 1 Definitions. 

For purposes of this Agreement: 

a. "Affordable housing" means residential housing for rent or sale that is appropriately priced for 
rent or sale to a person or family whose income does not exceed one hundred percent (100%) of 
the median income for the local area, with adjustments for household size, according to the latest 
figures available from the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). 
Projects serving households with income at or below 60% of the Annual Median Income will 
receive priority consideration.   
 

b. "Regional housing trust fund" (RHTF) means a multi-jurisdictional government fund separate from 
the general fund and established jointly by the governing authorities of one or more municipalities 
or county governments with one or more dedicated sources of public revenue and authorized 
expenditures as provided in this chapter. 
 

c. "Special needs housing" means housing or shelter provided by private or public entities including 
privately operated elderly housing, nursing homes, community residential care facilities, and 
other special needs population housing facilities regardless of purpose or type of facility. 

Section 2 Priorities. 

The priorities identified in the Asakura Robinson study of August 2021 are hereby adopted as follows: 

a. Providing accessible, affordable housing to the region to support the workforce in the service 
economy, as well as others with high housing cost burdens.  
 

b. Overcoming barriers to affordable development, such as financial gaps and land availability.  
 

c. Ensuring a regional approach for affordable housing that addresses the needs of each jurisdiction, 
while meeting important strategic goals for housing location.  
 

d. Understanding the tools and resources available to Housing Trust Funds through various state and 
federal laws and regulations.  
 

e.   Identifying a stable and reliable dedicated revenue source. 

Section 3 Funding. 

a. SC Code Section 31-22-30, as amended, provides that "a local government, including a 
municipality or county, may jointly form a regional housing trust fund by ordinance. A regional 
housing trust fund created under this chapter is subject to the same requirement and has the 
same power as a local housing trust fund created by an individual local government". 
 

b. The Parties agree the RHTF established by this Agreement shall be funded for a period of ten (10) 
years with annual contributions by the Parties apportioned based on annual census population 
numbers. See Attachment A for Year 1 apportionment. Apportionment for Years 2-9 shall be 

27

Item 9.



3 
 

updated annually after the population census numbers are released and documented via written 
amendment to this Agreement to be signed by all the Parties. 
 

c. Funding shall be committed via the Parties' budgeting authority. Sources of these funds include, 
but are not limited to, one or more of the following: 

i.  donations; 
ii.  bond proceeds; and 

iii.  grants and loans from a state, federal, or private source. 
iv.  any other public funds which may be lawfully used to support Affordable Housing. 

 
d. Alternate sources of funding for the RHTF 

The Parties may alter a source of funding for the regional housing trust fund by amending the 
ordinance(s) that establish financing for the regional housing trust fund, but only if sufficient funds 
exist to cover the projected debts or expenditures authorized by the regional housing trust fund 
in its budget. State law does not create, grant, or confer a new or additional tax or revenue 
authority to a local government or political subdivision of the State unless otherwise provided by 
the law of this State. Each Party will make an initial contribution to the RHTF based on the Chart 
outlined in Attachment A.  
 

e. The Parties shall safeguard the fund in the same manner as the general fund or a separate utility 
fund established for specific purposes. The RHTF may be included in the required financial 
expense reports or annual audit for each local government. 
 

f. The Parties may allocate funds to a program that promotes the development or rehabilitation of 
affordable housing as defined in the state enabling legislation. Regarding the distribution of funds 
from a regional housing trust fund, preference must be given to a program or project that 
promotes the development or rehabilitation of affordable housing for an individual or family with 
an annual income at or below one hundred percent of the median income with priority 
consideration being given to projects serving those individuals or families with incomes at or 
below sixty (60) percent of the median income for the local area, adjusted for family size according 
to current data from HUD, the development or rehabilitation of special needs housing, or the 
development or rehabilitation of homeless housing. 
 

g. RHTF funds may be used to match other funds from federal, state, or private resources, including 
the State Housing Trust Fund. The Parties shall seek additional resources for housing programs 
and projects to the maximum extent practicable. The Parties shall administer the RHTF through a 
new or existing nonprofit organization to encourage private charitable donation to the funds. 
Where a regional housing trust fund receives such a donation, the donation must be used and 
accounted for in accordance with the purpose as established by the RHTF Oversight Board and in 
accordance with State statutes. 
 

h. A regional housing trust fund established, utilized, or funded under this Agreement and enabling 
ordinances must provide an annual report to the Parties that created the fund and attested to 
this agreement. Minimum requirements for such said report is outlined in Attachement B. The 

28

Item 9.



4 
 

regional housing trust fund director must offer to present to each Parties' Council the annual 
report details and make the report available to the public by posting it on the appropriate website 
of the member local governments. Any alteration or amendment to such governing documents 
must conform to the provisions of the enabling legislation 
 

i. The Parties agree that projects funded by the RHTF will be judged on their merits and that funding 
and location of those projects will vary from year to year; and 

Section 4 Operations. 

a.  Each Party shall appoint one (1) representative to serve a two-year term on the Regional Housing 
Trust Oversight Board ("the Board") for so long as they remain a financial contributing party. The 
director of the regional housing trust fund will serve as Ex Officio member of the Board. The ninth 
appointee would be an at large representative agreed upon by the Parties making the 
membership a total of nine representatives.  Board Members shall represent a diverse field of 
experts familiar with affordable housing, real estate, and local government housing priorities. No 
elected officials may serve on the Oversight Board. 

 
b. Meetings will be held six times per year.  

 
c. Board responsibilities include:  

 
i. Providing feedback on community needs, serving as an advocate for affordable 

housing and the RHTF, connecting the Administrative Operating Contractor with 
community resources, and acting as a direct liaison between the RHTF and the local 
government entity.  

ii. Drafting  and adopting bylaws for the operation of the Board within six  (6) months of 
the creation of the RHTF; By-laws shall address how a member Party may terminate 
their participation and funding, including how that termination will or could impact 
RHTF projects in their jurisdiction, and the methodology for complete dissolution of 
the RHTF if a voting majority  of the Parties agree; By-laws shall address how a quorum 
is established, a meeting and reporting schedule, and any other requirements as 
defined by State statute 

iii. Make decisions on how the RHTF will operate to include whether to establish a 
501(c)3, hire employees, contract with a Certified Development Financial Institution 
(CDFI), or other method agreed upon by a majority of the Board, manage the 
operations of the RHTF to include hiring, firing, potential contracts, and other items 
that require approval as outlined in adopted bylaws.  

iv. Allocating other permissible funds to projects including, but not limited to, impact fee 
waivers, water and sewer impact fees,  

v. Develop an annual budget with projected revenues and expenditures. 
vi. Define types of projects eligible for funding. 

 

 

29

Item 9.



5 
 

Section 5 Term and Termination. 

The term of this Agreement shall be ten (10) years from the date of full execution by the Parties which 
shall be understood to be the date first set forth above. This Agreement may be renewed for another ten 
(10) year term as agreed to in writing by the Parties. Termination of the Agreement in whole may only 
occur via dissolution of the RHTF.  

Section 6 Fiscal Agent. 

Beaufort County will contract with Community Works to serve as the fiscal agent and will manage the 
financial relationship with the Parties, Community Works and the Board. Beaufort County will provide 
financial reports  on a quarterly basis to the Parties.  

Section 7 Notices. 
 
All notices required or permitted under this Agreement shall be in writing. All notices and payments shall 
be sent to the official main address of the member parties or to such other address as may from time to 
time be designated by written notice or via email with confirmation of email delivery receipt. Notices shall 
be deemed delivered when five (5) days after deposit in U.S. registered mail, postage prepaid, addressed 
to the other party or upon confirmation of email delivery receipt. 
 
Section 8 Governing Law and Severability Clause. 
 
This Agreement is governed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of South Carolina. 
Any and all disputes between the Parties that may arise pursuant to this Agreement shall be brought and 
fully litigated in a court of competent jurisdiction located in Beaufort County, South Carolina. If any term, 
covenant or condition of this Agreement or the application thereof to any person or circumstance shall, 
to any extent, be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby 
and each such term, covenant or condition of this Agreement shall be valid and enforceable to  the full 
extent permitted by law. The stricken provision of this Agreement shall be enforced to the maximum 
extent permissible so as to affect the intent of the Parties, and the remainder of this Agreement shall 
continue in full force and effect. 
 
Section 9 Assignment. 
 
This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties and their 
respectivesuccessors, heirs, administrators, representatives, and assigns. However, this provision shall not 
be construed to permit or allow assignments not otherwise allowed under this Agreement. 
 
Section 10 Miscellaneous. 
 
This IGA expresses the complete agreement and understanding of the undersigned parties, and any and 
all prior or contemporaneous oral agreement or prior written agreement regarding the subject matter 
hereof shall be merged herein and then extinguished. The captions and headings used in this IGA are for 
convenience only and do not in any way limit, amplify, or otherwise modify the provisions of this IGA. As 
used in this IGA, the masculine, feminine or neuter gender and the singular or plural number shall each 
include the others whenever the context so indicates. This IGA may be executed in multiple counterparts, 
each of which shall be deemed an original but all of which, taken together, shall constitute the same 
instrument. 

30

Item 9.



31

Item 9.



7 
 

 

 

Attachment A 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

32

Item 9.



8 
 

 

 

 

Attachment B 

Reporting Requirements 
The annual report will be provided to RHTF Oversight Board by the Operating Administrator and/or staff 
responsible for managing and administering the Fund as outlined in a separate operating agreement 
between the two parties. The annual report must include, at a minimum, the following metrics:  

1) Impact Data: the project names and location funded in each participating jurisdiction, the amount 
of funding provided per project, the number and type of dwelling units built/or preserved in each 
funded project along with an affordability percentage breakdown, and demographic data where 
available. 
  

2) Financial Data:  the accounting of revenues and expenditures of the fund, additional funding 
raised to support the RHTF including additional project capital and operating investments,  project 
leveraging amounts and other inkind or financial support provided to support the purpose of the 
fund.  
 

3) Where feasible and available, success stories and project highlghts, including pictures and 
testimonials.   

 

 
 

 

 

33

Item 9.



RESOLUTION 2025/_____ 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE AN 

AMENDMENT TO AN INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT REGARDING 

AFFORDABLE HOUSING 

WHEREAS, on September 26, 2022, Beaufort County Council (“County Council”) adopted 

Resolution 2022/51 which authorized the County Administrator to enter into an intergovernmental 

agreement with Jasper County, Town of Hilton Head Island, Town of Bluffton, Town of Port Royal, City 

of Beaufort, City of Hardeeville, and the Town of Yemassee, collectively hereinafter referred to as the 

“Government Entities”.  The purpose of the agreement with the Government Entities was to jointly create 

and fund a regional housing trust fund (“RHTF” or “Fund”), to establish an Oversight Board for the Fund, 

and to contract with Community Works to provide for the managerial and administrative, day-to-day 

operation of the Fund; and  

WHEREAS, Resolution 2022/51 incorporated an exhibit entitled Intergovernmental Agreement 

Regarding Affordable Housing (“Agreement”).  The Agreement was executed by the Government Entities 

and was made effective on October 28, 2022; and 

WHEREAS, due to developments since the creation of the RHTF and the execution of the 

Agreement, the Government Entities desire to amend the Agreement to: (1) remove the reference to the 

“William C. Mescher Local Housing Trust Fund Enabling Act”; (2) include a definition of the “Beaufort 

Jasper Housing Trust, Inc.”; (3) further define the terms and responsibilities of the Oversight Board; (4) 

include additional conditions regarding the Term and Termination of the Agreement; and (5) amend terms 

regarding the Administration and Fiscal Agent related to the RHTF.  The aforementioned amendments to 

the Agreement are reflected in Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference; and    

WHEREAS, County Council supports the desire of the Government Entities and finds the desired 

amendments to the Agreement, as reflected in Exhibit A, are in the best interest of the continued success 

for the RHTF. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Beaufort County Council authorizing the 

County Administrator to execute an amendment, as shown in Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated 

herein by reference, to an intergovernmental agreement regarding affordable housing.  

DONE this ________day of _______________, 2025 

       

            BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

       

 

____________________________________ 

     Alice Howard, Chairman 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Sarah Brock, Clerk of Council  

34

Item 9.



1 

 

EXHIBIT A 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  ) 

      ) AMENDMENT TO AN  

COUNTY OF JASPER    ) INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT   

COUNTY OF BEAUFORT   ) REGARDING AFFORDABLE HOUSING 

 

THIS AMENDMENT TO AN INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT REGARDING 

AFFORDABLE HOUSING (“Amendment”) is entered into with an effective date of _________, 20___ 

(“Effective Date”) by and among Beaufort County, Jasper County, the Town of Hilton Head Island, the 

Town of Bluffton, the City of Beaufort, the Town of Port Royal, the City of Hardeeville and the Town of 

Yemassee; collectively hereinafter the “Parties”; and  

WHEREAS, the Parties entered into an Intergovernmental Agreement Regarding Affordable 

Housing dated October 28, 2022 (“Agreement”), for the purposes of authorizing the Parties to jointly create, 

fund, and operate a regional housing trust fund and oversight board to improve affordable housing in the 

region; and  

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to enter into this Amendment in order to further the purpose of the 

Agreement. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises contained herein, the Parties 

hereby agree as follows:  

1. The recitals shall be amended to remove reference to the “William C. Mescher Local Housing Trust 

Fund Enabling Act”, the specific language to be removed is stricken through and shown as follows:   

 

WHEREAS, the Asakura Robinson report recommended the establishment of a non-profit 

501(c)(3) Regional Housing Trust Fund ("RHTF") in accordance with legislation passed 

by the South Carolina State Legislature known as  the "William C. Mescher Local Housing 

Trust Fund Enabling Act" which, inter alia, allows for the establishment of Regional 

Housing Trust Funds among local governments; and    

 

2. Section 1 “Definitions” shall be amended to include the following additional term:  

d. “Beaufort Jasper Housing Trust, Inc” means a 501(c)(3) organization as defined by the 

Internal Revenue Code of 1986 which has been created and operates under the 

authority of this Agreement; and exclusively for the purpose of providing 

administrative, management and financial services furthering the goals and desires 

stated in this Agreement; hereinafter referred to as “BJHT, Inc.”. Any terms or 

conditions in this Agreement that reference a 501(c)(3) shall apply to BJHT, Inc. 

regardless if BJHT, Inc. is explicitly referenced.      

3. Section 4 “Operation” shall be amended to replace any reference to “Board” with “Oversight Board”. 

 

4. Section 4 “Operation” shall be amended to include the following additional terms and conditions:  

 

a. Each Party shall appoint one (1) representative to serve a three-year term on the 

Regional Housing Trust Oversight Board ("Oversight Board") for so long as they 

remain a financial contributing party. The director of the regional housing trust fund 

will serve as Ex Officio member of the Oversight Board. The ninth appointee would be 

35

Item 9.



2 

 

an at large representative agreed upon by the Parties making the membership a total 

of nine representatives.  Oversight Board Members shall represent a diverse field of 

experts familiar with affordable housing, real estate, and local government housing 

priorities. No elected officials may serve on the Oversight Board. 

 

Any 501(c)(3) providing administrative, management and financial services for the 

RHTF, including BJHT Inc., shall be permitted to add members to its Board of 

Directors (“501(c)(3) Board”), in accordance with the recommendations from the 

Asakura Robinson Study.  All action items coming before the 501(c)(3) Board utilizing 

any amount of RHTF monies shall require approval by a majority vote of the Oversight 

Board.  The Oversight Board shall include representatives from each of the Parties.     

 

The Parties acknowledge and agree that each Party’s representative on the Oversight 

Board is responsible for expressing the recommendations, opinions and desires of the 

individual government entity.  Each Oversight Board representative shall provide 

regular updates to the individual government entity being represented and shall ensure 

the individual government entity remains informed of projects, funding and status of 

the 501(c)(3).    

  

5. Section 5 “Term and Termination” shall be removed and replaced as follows:  

 

a. Term. The term of this Agreement shall be ten (10) years from the date of full execution 

of the Agreement by the Parties which shall be understood to be the date first set forth 

above. This Agreement may be renewed for another ten (10) year term as agreed to in 

writing by the Parties.  

 

b. Termination. The termination of this Agreement in whole may only occur via 

dissolution of the RHTF. 

 

c. Removal of a Single Party.  If at any time a single Party to this Agreement decides it is 

in its best interest to no longer be a party to this Agreement, then the Party shall provide 

written notice to the remaining Parties.  The Parties shall amend this Agreement to 

remove the Party.  Following the removal of a Party, the funds previously contributed 

by said Party and any funds required to be paid for the fiscal year shall remain with 

the RHTF.  The said Party shall no longer be required to contribute funds in the next 

fiscal year.       

 

d. Dissolution of 501(c)(3). Following a dissolution of the 501(c)(3), or when notice of 

dissolution of the 501(c)(3) is communicated in writing to the Parties, including the 

dissolution of BJHT, Inc., the Parties agree one of the following actions must be taken 

(“Dissolution Options”):  

 

i. Option 1.  All funds associated with the RHTF shall be immediately transferred 

to Beaufort County to be held in an escrow account.  The Parties agree that for 

purposes of this Section, Beaufort County has the authority to disburse funds 

only for previously approved projects or active projects at the time of the 

dissolution.  Beaufort County shall provide quarterly financial reports to the 

36

Item 9.



3 

 

other Parties. Following the transfer of funds, the Parties may agree in writing 

a successor to act as the administrator, manager and fiscal agent of the RHTF; 

or take any other action available and agreed upon in writing by the Parties.   

 

ii. Option 2. Prior to the dissolution date, the Parties shall discuss options for a 

successor to act as the administrator, manager, and fiscal agent of the RHTF; 

and each Party’s recommendation shall be presented to the 501(c)(3) Board 

through their representatives on the Oversight Board. If the recommended 

successor is approved by the Oversight Board, then Beaufort County may 

contract with the approved successor if necessary. Following approval of a 

successor, the RHTF funds, administration and management shall be transferred 

to the approved successor.   

The Parties agree that each Party shall express its preferred Dissolution Option to its 

Board representative, whereby said representative shall express said Dissolution Option 

preference by voting appropriately at a Board meeting during the dissolution process.       

6. Section 6 “Fiscal Agent” shall be removed and replaced as follows:  

 

Section 6 Administration and Fiscal Agent. 

The Parties agree a 501(c)(3), including BJHT, Inc., shall act as the fiscal agent of the 

RHTF.   The entity shall manage the financial relationship with the Parties and is solely 

responsible for providing the reports to each Party as required in this Agreement.  

7. Miscellaneous. 

a. Except as specifically amended herein, all other terms and conditions of the Agreement shall remain 

in full force and effect.  

 

b. The Amendment may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but 

all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. 

 

c. This Amendment shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of 

South Carolina, without regard to its conflict of laws principles.  

 

This Amendment is signed by the authorized representatives of the Parties set forth below and is effective 

as of the Effective Date.   

 

 

 

(Signature Page to Follow) 

 

 

 

37

Item 9.



4 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Amendment as set forth below.  

 

BEAUFORT COUNTY:  _____________________________________  date: _____________________ 

                                        

JASPER COUNTY: _____________________________________ date: _____________________ 

 

THE TOWN OF HILTON HEAD ISLAND: ___________________________________   

date: _____________________ 

 

THE CITY OF BEAUFORT: _________________________________    date: _____________________ 

 

THE TOWN OF BLUFFTON: ________________________________  date: _____________________ 

 

THE TOWN OF PORT ROYAL:_______________________________   date: _____________________ 

 

THE CITY OF HARDEEVILLE: ______________________________    date: _____________________ 

 

THE TOWN OF YEMASSEE: _______________________________     date: _____________________ 
 

38

Item 9.



39

Item 9.



40

Item 9.



41

Item 9.



42

Item 9.



43

Item 9.



44

Item 9.



45

Item 9.



46

Item 9.



47

Item 9.



48

Item 9.



49

Item 9.



50

Item 9.



51

Item 9.



52

Item 9.



53

Item 9.



54

Item 9.



55

Item 9.



56

Item 9.



57

Item 9.



58

Item 9.



59

Item 9.



60

Item 9.



61

Item 9.



62

Item 9.



63

Item 9.



64

Item 9.



65

Item 9.



66

Item 9.



67

Item 9.



68

Item 9.



69

Item 9.



70

Item 9.



71

Item 9.



72

Item 9.



73

Item 9.



74

Item 9.



75

Item 9.



76

Item 9.



77

Item 9.



78

Item 9.



79

Item 9.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

DISCUSSION: State A-Tax Review 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Finance Committee, February 18th, 2025 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Tab Tabernik 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

State A tax Review of Awards in partnership with USC- Beaufort 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

N/A 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

N/A- Discussion Item only 

 

80

Item 10.



 

Method to improve funding of Historic, Cultural, and Ecological Attractions 

in Beaufort County. 

  

Background:  Beaufort County is rich in historical, cultural, and ecological treasures.  

These treasures offer the opportunity to become attractions for educating residents, 

children, students, and visitors.  Some examples include: Mitchelville; Altamaha Town, 

Fort Freemont, Fort Frederick, Santa Elena, Mather School, Port Royal Sound Maritime 

Center, Burton Wells Park, Widgeon Point Park, Crystal Lake Park, and others.  Tourism 

is a major economic driver for Beaufort County, Tourism generates Accommodations 

Tax collections. Atax funds have been used to support the development of tourism 

Attractions. 

 Opportunity: A consistent, fair, transparent, results-oriented, means of evaluating the 

impact of funding will improve success and may attract additional funding from other 

pri9vite and public sources. Such a process has been successfully used in Europe for 

decades.  A scoring system is used which results in a Green (all is good), Yellow, (some 

things are good, some things need improvement), or red (lots of potential but residents 

and visitors are likely to be disappointed in the experience unless improvements are 

made. 

Process:  An independent group of (such as the Hospitality and Tourism students at 

USCB) will recommend the criteria to be applied to each Attraction.  Examples include:  

-  Is the story of the attraction communicated in an effective and engaging 

manner? 

- Is the attraction open for reasonable hours per week? 

- Is there an interesting experience for residents and visitors? 

- Are there docents or interpretive volunteers? 

- Are there restrooms? 

- Is there sufficient dedicated parking? 

- Is there an effective Board? 

Sample reviews were conducted and are attached. 

USE:  The evaluation report will be used by County ATAX Advisory Committees and will 

be included in recommendations to council.   

Recommendation:   Each Attraction does not need to be evaluated each year.  The 

recommendation is to budget $20,000 annually which will provide funding to evaluate 4 

or 5 attractions each year.   

81

Item 10.



 

82

Item 10.



UNIVERSITY OF 

SOUTH O\ROLINA 
BEAUFORT T

Lowcountry and 
Resort Islands 

ourism Institute 

Method 

First Shore Attraction Evaluation 

Dr. John Salazar, Director 
Dr. Nancy Hritz, Assistant Director 

Dipl.-Soz. Anton Abraham, Research Associate 

This attraction evaluation was created using modified items and scoring protocol from Visit England. The 
evaluation is used specifically for Visit England accreditation for visitor attractions 
(https://www.visitbritain.org/). The items were modified in language to be more applicable to the United 
States. In addition, the survey was selected as it mirrors First Shore's current criteria in their ranking system 
for attractions (http://firstshore.org/site/rule�. 

A team of evaluators was trained in the survey protocol. Then, four (4) individual evaluators made 
unannounced visits to each attraction. The evaluators made independent assessments of the attraction using 
criteria in the three subcategories of pre-arrival, arrival and the attraction itself. Details of the rating criteria 
used in each of these three areas can be found at the conclusion of this report. A score from zero to five was 
given for each item with 

5 = excellent 
4=very good 
3 = good 
2 = disappointing 
1 = poor 
0 = unacceptable 

The visits were throughout the week and different times of day from May 2-23, 2016. At the conclusion of 
the visit, evaluators calculated a percentage score for the overall attraction as well as the categories of pre 
arrival, arrival, and attraction. Not every attraction provided all of the features/services listed on the 
evaluation form. Where this was the case, the item was deleted from the assessment process with no 
detrimental effect on the overall outcome. 

Inter rater reliability 
The evaluator's assessments were examined for inter rater reliability, which is a numerical statistic to ensure 
that the survey is consistent in its measurement. The score was .903 which was high inter rater reliability. 

Attraction rating 
The percentage scores for attraction rating were consolidated from the four independent evaluations and 
used to place the attraction into the green, yellow and red ranking system of First Shore as follows: 

Green ranking: 
Yellow: 
Red: 

70-100%
50-69%
49% and below

© LRITI @ USCB 2016 
Page 11 

83

Item 10.



84

Item 10.



85

Item 10.



86

Item 10.



87

Item 10.



88

Item 10.



89

Item 10.



90

Item 10.



91

Item 10.



92

Item 10.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

THE REAPPOINTMENTS OF THOMAS SHEAHAN, NICHOLAS MESENBURG, LESLIE FLORY, ANNE ESPOSITO, 
HOWARD ACKERMAN & CHRISTOPHER BUTLER TO THE AIRPORTS BOARD FOR A TWO-YEAR TERM WITH AN 
EXPIRATION DATE OF FEBRUARY 2027 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Finance, Administration, & Economic Development 

February 18, 2025  

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

Currently, five (5) board members are up for reappointment. Per Sec. 6-28. – Membership:  The Airports 
Board will consist of 11 members who are committed to the purpose and goals of the BCAB and who have the 
business and professional experience to help ensure the success and the enhancement of both Beaufort 
County airports.  All appointments and reappointments to the Airports Board must be approved by County 
Council 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Each of these members has met the attendance requirements and are being recommended for 
reappointment by Airports Board staff liaisons. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

N/A  

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends approval of the above reappointments, as they are necessary to maintain the board’s full 
membership and allow it to continue effectively fulfilling its advisory role. 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve and move forward to County Council 

 

93

Item 11.



94

Item 11.



95

Item 11.



96

Item 11.



97

Item 11.



98

Item 11.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF THE REAPPOINTMENT OF PAUL JERNIGAN TO THE BOARD OF 
ASSESSMENT APPEALS FOR A FOUR-YEAR TERM WITH THE EXPIRATION DATE OF 
FEBRUARY 2029. 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Finance, Administration, & Economic Development 

February 18, 2025  

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

The Beaufort County Board of Assessment Appeals is responsible for reviewing and ruling on property 
assessment disputes brought by taxpayers. Per Sec. 66-82. - Composition; terms; vacancies – this is a nine (9) 
member board currently with four (4) vacancies.  Appeals and other hearings may be conducted by panels of 
five members chosen from among the nine members of the board. Three members of the panel shall 
constitute a quorum, unless the parties agree to a lesser number. When only three members of the panel 
are present to conduct a hearing, the decision of the panel must be unanimous. 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Mr. Jernigan is being recommended for reappointment by BAA Board staff liaisons. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

N/A  

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends approval of the above reappointment.  Maintaining experienced members like Mr. 
Jernigan will help ensure the board continues to function effectively. 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve and move forward to County Council 

 

99

Item 12.



From: Rigg, Elizabeth
To: Evans, Octavia
Subject: RE: Letters of Intent
Date: Friday, February 7, 2025 10:19:22 AM
Importance: Low

Letter of intent from Chairman Paul Jernigan.
 
Thanks
 
Liz
 
 
From: Paul Jernigan <sailintobeaufort@yahoo.com> 
Sent: Friday, February 7, 2025 10:17 AM
To: Rigg, Elizabeth <erigg@bcgov.net>
Subject: Re: Letters of Intent

 
[EXTERNAL EMAIL] Please report any suspicious attachments, links, or requests for
sensitive information to the Beaufort County IT Division at helpdesk@bcgov.net or to
843-255-7000.

To whom it may concern;
 
This is verify that I Paul R. Jernigan am seeking re-appointment the Beaufort Board of
Assessment Apppeals.
 
My current term expires February 2025. Thank you for your consideration.
 
Sincerely
Paul Jernigan

Sent from my iPad

On Feb 7, 2025, at 9:47 AM, Rigg, Elizabeth <erigg@bcgov.net> wrote:


Good Morning Gentlemen,
 
Our admin representative, Octavia is back after being out of the office for 6 weeks. 
She has requested letters of intent for those BAA members whose terms are
expiring.  Just type up, sign and email back to me as soon as you can. County

100

Item 12.

mailto:erigg@bcgov.net
mailto:octavia.evans@bcgov.net
mailto:helpdesk@bcgov.net
mailto:erigg@bcgov.net

	Top
	Item 5.	APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	01.27.2025

	Item 7.	FY2024 Annual Comprehensive Finance Report (ACFR)
	AIS- FY2024  ACFR Presentation
	FY24 ACFR Presentation

	Item 8.	Assistant County Administrator Report
	Fin Comm-2.18.25
	Budget Transfer Report 2.18.25

	Item 9.	RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE AN AMENDMENT TO AN INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT REGARDING AFFORDABLE HOUSING
	AIS Resolution Amending IGA for RHTF 2-10-25
	BACKUP Resolution, IGA Regional Trust Fund 9-23-22
	Resolution Amending IGA for the RHTF 2-10-25_1
	Amendment RHTF IGA - Exhibit A 2-10-25_1
	Asakura-Robinson-Study-compressed

	Item 10.	Discussion- Method to improve funding of Historic, Cultural, and Ecological Attractions in Beaufort County
	AIS- State A tax Discussion-2.18.25
	Cultutal and Heritage Tourism - Tab Chat
	02.18.2025 First shore

	Item 11.	RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF THE REAPPOINTMENT OF THOMAS SHEAHAN TO THE AIRPORTS BOARD FOR A TWO-YEAR TERM WITH THE EXPIRATION DATE OF FEBRUARY 2027.
	ABC AIS
	Airports board

	Item 12.	RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF THE REAPPOINTMENT OF PAUL JERNIGAN TO THE BOARD OF ASSESSMENT APPEALS FOR A FOUR-YEAR TERM WITH THE EXPIRATION DATE OF FEBRUARY 2029.
	BAA
	Paul J

	Bottom

